
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

MILWAUKEE DIVISION 
 

LETICIA WOODS, Individually and on       
Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated, 
 
  Plaintiffs, 
 vs. 
 
ASSET RECOVERY SOLUTIONS, LLC, 

 
  Defendant. 

)
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
)

Case No.: 17-cv-354 
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT  
 
 
 
Jury Trial Demanded 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

1. This class action seeks redress for collection practices that violate the Fair Debt 

Collection Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq. (the “FDCPA”). 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. The court has jurisdiction to grant the relief sought by the Plaintiff pursuant to 15 

U.S.C. § 1692k and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, and 1337. Venue in this District is proper in that 

Defendant directed its collection efforts into the District. 

PARTIES 

3. Plaintiff Leticia Woods is an individual who resides in the Eastern District of 

Wisconsin (Milwaukee County). 

4. Plaintiff is a “consumer” as defined in the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3), in that 

Defendant sought to collect from her a debt allegedly incurred for personal, family or household 

purposes, namely a bill for educational services. 

5. Defendant Asset Recovery Solutions, LLC (“ARS”) is a debt collection agency 

with its principal offices located at 2200 E Devon Ave Ste 200, Des Plaines, IL 60018. 
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6. ARS is engaged in the business of a collection agency, using the mails and 

telephone to collect consumer debts originally owed to others. 

7. ARS is engaged in the business of collecting debts owed to others and incurred 

for personal, family or household purposes. ARS is a debt collector as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 

1692a. 

FACTS 

8. On or about February 7, 2017, Plaintiff received debt collection letter from ARS. 

A copy of this letter is attached to this complaint as Exhibit A. 

9. Upon information and belief, Exhibit A is a form letter, generated by computer, 

and with the information specific to Plaintiff inserted by computer. 

10. On Exhibit A, ARS represents that the “creditor” is “UNIVERSITY OF 

PHOENIX.” (“Phoenix”). 

11. Upon information and belief, ARS is collecting the debt referred to in Exhibit A 

on Phoenix's behalf. 

12. Upon information and belief, ARS is not the owner of the debt referred to in 

Exhibit A. 

13. The letter ARS sent to Plaintiff (Exhibit A) includes the following text:  
 

 
 
Exhibit A. 

14. The above language is confusing and misleading to the unsophisticated consumer. 

15. Exhibit A is unclear as to whether payment of the “settlement” amount would 

actually settle the account in full with ARS and Phoenix. 
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16. Exhibit A only addresses the status of the consumer’s account with ARS. Nothing 

in Exhibit A indicates that Phoenix would waive the remaining 65% of the debt if Plaintiff paid 

the requested amount to ARS. Instead, the letter indicates that payment of the debt will cause 

ARS to "stop all further collection efforts."\ 

17. Upon information and belief, the relationship between ARS and Phoenix is a non-

agent, independent contractor relationship, not an agency relationship. Phoenix does not exercise 

the type of control over ARS that would establish an agency relationship. 

18. Under a reasonable interpretation of Exhibit A, payment of the “settlement” 

amount would result ARS closing its account and returning the remaining balance (i.e. 65 

percent of the balance) to Phoenix, which would be within its rights to continue collection 

efforts.  
19. It is common for debt collectors to collect an account for several months and then 

return the account to the creditor. It is also common for creditors to recall accounts from debt 

collectors and place the accounts with different collection agencies.  

20. Recall and reassignment of accounts, or even disappearance or repudiation of a 

settlement agreement, sometimes occurs while the consumer has "settled" with a debt collector 

or a settlement payment plan is in progress. See, eg. Lesh v. Allied Interstate, LLC, et al., No. 15-

cv-1426 (E.D. Wis. filed Nov. 30, 2015); Kleppin v. Estate Information Services LLC, No. 14-

cv-1484 (E.D. Wis. filed Nov. 24, 2014). 

21. ARS's unclear language raises the risk that the consumer will complete the terms 

of the settlement proposal, only to have Phoenix or a new debt collector later seek the entire 

balance. Id. 
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22. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e generally prohibits “any false, deceptive, or misleading 

representation or means in connection with the collection of any debt.” 

23. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(a) specifically prohibits: “The false representation of – the 

character, amount, or legal status of any debt. 

24. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(10) specifically prohibits: “The use of any false representation 

or deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect any debt or to obtain information concerning a 

consumer. 

COUNT I  – FDCPA 

25. Plaintiff incorporates by reference as if fully set forth herein the allegations 

contained in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

26. Exhibit A are confusing and mislead the unsophisticated consumer as to the status 

of the remaining balance after a “settlement” payment is made. 

27. Exhibit A only state that payment of the “settlement” amount would resolve the 

matter with ARS, and that the payment would cause ARS to stop collection efforts. 

28. It is facially unclear whether such payment would actually resolve the entire 

balance of the alleged debt, or would only result in the remaining 65 percent of the debt being 

returned to Phoenix for additional collection efforts. 

29. Defendant violated 15 U.S.C. §§ 1692e, 1692e(2)(a) and 1692e(10). 
 

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

30. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of a Class, consisting of (a) all natural 

persons in the State of Wisconsin (b) who were sent a collection letter in the form represented by 

Exhibit A to the complaint in this action, (c) seeking to collect a debt owed for Phoenix, (d) 

incurred for personal, family or household purposes, and (e) in which ARS had not acquired an 
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ownership interest in the debt, (f) between March 9, 2016 and March 9, 2017, (g) that was not 

returned by the postal service. 

31. The Class is so numerous that joinder is impracticable.  On information and 

belief, there are more than 50 members of the Class. 

32. There are questions of law and fact common to the members of the class, which 

common questions predominate over any questions that affect only individual class members.  

The predominant common question is whether Exhibit A violates the FDCPA. 

33. Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the Class members.  All are based on 

the same factual and legal theories. 

34. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent the interests of the Class members. 

Plaintiff has retained counsel experienced in consumer credit and debt collection abuse cases. 

35. A class action is superior to other alternative methods of adjudicating this dispute.   

Individual cases are not economically feasible. 

JURY DEMAND 

36. Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff requests that the Court enter judgment in favor of Plaintiff and 

the Class and against Defendant for: 

(a) actual damages; 

(b) statutory damages;   

(c) attorneys’ fees, litigation expenses and costs of suit; and 

(d) such other or further relief as the Court deems proper. 

Dated:  March 9, 2017. 
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  ADEMI & O’REILLY, LLP 
 
  By: /s/Denise L. Morris   
  Shpetim Ademi (SBN 1026973) 
  John D. Blythin (SBN 1046105) 
  Mark A. Eldridge (SBN 1089944) 
  Denise L. Morris (SBN 1097911) 
  3620 East Layton Avenue 
  Cudahy, WI 53110 
  (414) 482-8000 
  (414) 482-8001 (fax) 
  sademi@ademilaw.com 
  jblythin@ademilaw.com 
  meldridge@ademilaw.com 
  dmorris@ademilaw.com 
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Statement Date: 

ID Number: 

Original Creditor: 

Current Creditor: 

Account Number: 

Total Current Balance: 

Leticia A Woods 
3540 N 15th St 
Milwaukee, WI 53206 

02/27/17 
453411000045305/138 

4204 

UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 

UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 

XXXXXXXXXXXX6007 

$1,755.32 877-558-8338 

We would like to settle your debt for only 35% of your Total Current Balance listed above. 

Settlement amount $614.36 

To accept this offer, simply make sure that we receive the entire Settlement Amount on or before March 30 2017. If we receive the Settlement 
Amount on or before March 30 2017, and if your funds clear, we will consider your account to be settled in full and will stop all further 
collection efforts. This offer expires on March 30 2017. 

We are not obligated to renew this offer. Failure to comply with the above mentioned tenns will nullify the settlement arrangement. 

We encourage you to call prior to making a payment intended to pay your account in full. Please contact us at 877-558-8338. 

This is an attempt to collect a debt and any information obtained will be used for that purpose. This communication is from a debt collector. 

Sincerely, 
Asset Recovery Solutions 
877-558-8338, Ext. 741 

This collection agency is licensed by the Division of Banking in the Wisconsin Department of Financial Institutions, www.wdfi.org. 

Asset Recovery Solutions, LLC Contacts 
Hours of Operation: 
Monday- Thursday 8 AM- 9 PM CT 
Friday: 8 am ~ 5 pm CT 
Saturday: 8 AM-12 CT 

YOU CAN MAKE YOUR PAYMENT ONLINE AT: 

htt9://!)ayments.arsllc.com/ 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -Detiicii andlfeturii with Pa iiieiit- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -· - - . 

2200 E. Devon Ave Ste 200 
Des Plaines, IL 60018-4501 

11h•11111111I•'•1I•I111111.11•••111.11.11IMI I I 1II1I1Ill1111.11 
Leticia A Woods 
3540 N 15th St 
Milwaukee, WI 53206-2301 

IF PA YING BY CREDIT CARD, FILL OllT BELOW. 

CARD NUMBER 

S!GNATUR-1'. 

ID NUMBER 

4204 

EXP_ DATE 

PAY THIS AMOUNT AMOUNT PAID 

$614.36 $ 

ACCOUNT NUMBER 

XXXXXXXXXXXX6007 
CURRENT CRE()JTOR 

UNIVERSITY OF PHOENIX 

Please send payments and correspondence to: 

1•11111111.,,.111.1 •• 1,1111'•1•11llll1l11llllllll1lll1llllil1l1ll 
Asset Recovery Solutions, LLC 
2200 E. Devon Ave Ste 200 
Des Plaines, IL 60018-450 l 

7 
694089257000 
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LETICIA WOODS ASSET RECOVERY SOLUTIONS, LLC
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15 U.S.C. 1692 et seq

Violation of Fair Debt Collection Practices Act 

✔

✔
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AO 440 (Rev. 12/09)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk
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       Eastern District of Wisconsin

 
LETICIA WOODS

17-cv-354

 
ASSET RECOVERY SOLUTIONS, LLC

ASSET RECOVERY SOLUTIONS, LLC 
c/o C T CORPORATION SYSTEM 
8020 EXCELSIOR DR., SUITE 200 
MADISON, WI 53717 

John D. Blythin 
Ademi & O'Reilly, LLP 
3620 East Layton Avenue 
Cudahy, WI 53110 
(414) 482-8000-Telephone
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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